
The Site of Sulloniacae? 
STEPHEN A. CASTLE 

BISECTED BY Roman Watling Street and located 
in the high open ccuntry of north Middlesex is 
Brockley Hill, generally considered to be the site of 
Sulloniucae, which was mentioned in Iter I1 of the 
Antorline Itinerary as lying 12 miles from Londinium 
and 9 miles from Verulamium. 

Like many sites it attracted the attention of early 
antiquaries. Firstly William Camden, about whom 
Norden commented in his Speculum Britanniael; 
"Where others have hitherto placed this Sullonicae at 
Chipping Barnet, regarding only the foresaid dis- 
tances, Mr. Camden by diligent observance has 
found that it should stand on Brockley Hill." John 
Norden and not surprisingly William Stukeley, com- 
mented on the finding of Roman ruins, coins, urns 
and other antiquities there during the construction 
of houses. Findings of material in the 19th century, 
and in 1909, during the construction of tennis courts 
in the grounds of the Orthopaedic Hospital, suggested 
a Roman settlement of some importance2. 
Excavations (Fig. 1) 

Despite curiosity and various theories it was not 
until 1937 that any archaeological excavations took 
place there3. Although a number of excavations have 
taken place since then4, the exact nature of the settle- 
ment is still not certain. Indeed conclusions are 
severely handicapped by their piecemeal nature. 
Those in 1937, 1947 and the 1950s were explora- 
tory whereas those from 1968 onwards have been 
rescue operations in which speed has been the deter- 
mining factor. Despite this a short summary of evi- 
dence so far obtained is both possible and clearly 
desirable. 
Pre-Woman Activity 

A numb-r of worked flints, including a Mesolithic 
type core-tool5, have been found in the Roman levels 
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tool was found in 1959 during rather unproductive 
excavations on the east side of modern Watling 
Street6. From the 1953-4 excavations was found a 
Bronze Age polished flint "fabricator7'7 and in 1950 
a fragment of bucket urn was found during trench- 
ing, near Canons Corner8. A Bronze Age palstave 
has also been found near Stanmore Common9. 

It  is clear then that there was prehistoric activity 
at various parts of the site but there is, however, no 
clear evidence of Belgic (Pre-Roman) occupation. 
Gdms Ditch 

In the summer of 1955 a trench was cut across 
the linea earth-work Grims Ditch in Pear Wood in 
the hope of determining its datelO. As at Harrow 
Weald Golf Course, where the earthwork is about 
103ft. wide, the clay rampart was found to lie on the 
north side of the ditch. A few sherds of Iron Age 
pottery were found, though not in such a context 
as to indicate that the ditch is quite definitely of that 
date. This earthwork, which runs from Pinner Green 
to the eastern edge of Pear Wood may well be a 
Belgic boundary ditch, quite possibly the southern 
boundary of the territory of the tribe of the Catuvel- 
launi. However, until further excavations are conduc- 
ted and a satisfactory quantity of datable material is 
recovered, ideally from the original topsoil or an 
underlying occupation layer, below the rampart, this 
cannot be certain. 
Roman Watling Street 

A road consisting of a clay bank capped with 
gravel and with side ditches has been located on the 
west side of modern Watling Street. This feature was 
excavated at Sites C, E and F in 1968 and its silt 
filled ditches contained unweathered 1st and 2nd 
century potsherds and tile fragments. At Site C, the 
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